THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

No. 2022-000339

In The Court of Appeals (as Transferred from the Supreme Court of South Carolina)

APPEAL from RICHLAND COUNTY Court of COMMON PLEAS

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge, Case No. 2019-CP-40-01374,

Which is an Appeal from Richland County (Dentsville) Magistrate Phillip F. Newsom

As transferred to Richland Count Magistrates from the City of Columbia' Municipal Court (CMC)

Summary Court No. L066971

City of Columbia, SC,

Respondent,

v.

Marie Assa'ad-Faltas, MD, MPH,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED PROVISIONAL INITIAL BRIEF

List of Issues on Appeal

- 1.** The U.S. Constitution recognizes only two, **not more**, types of sovereigns: the federal government and the governments of the several states or tribal nations. Political subdivisions (counties, municipalities, *etc.*) are not sovereigns nor do they partake of state's sovereignty. Only sovereigns may criminalize conduct and prosecute and punish crime. The conviction below is void *ab initio* because City of Columbia, SC ("*the City*"), a non-sovereign, may not own or operate a court. *The City's* Municipal Court ("CMC"), which is not a court of a sovereign recognized by the U.S. Constitution, was created by a statute repugnant to the U.S. Constitution; thus, all its actions, including the conviction of Appellant Marie Assa'ad-Faltas, MD, MPH ("Dr. Faltas") are as if they did not exist. **An answer in Dr. Faltas' favor on this issue obviates the need for this Court to resolve the other issues.**
- 2.** Dr. Faltas was convicted and sentenced under a City ordinance of *the City* pre-empted by state law. Laws which exempt a class of people or of conduct from prosecution or punishment are always retro-active. Dr. Faltas' 25 April 2013 conviction and sentence of "simple assault," which was *then not* a crime in SC, are void *ab initio*. **An answer in Dr. Faltas' favor on this issue obviates the need for this Court to resolve the other issues.**
- 3.** Speaking for oneself is a *basic* human right. A punishment which denies the *basic* human right to speak for oneself is cruel and unusual and thus unconstitutional and void. Therefore, any and all proceedings conducted while Dr. Faltas is/was under the cruel and unusual *prospective* denial of her *basic* human right to speak for herself are void *ab initio*; and so are their results. **An answer in Dr. Faltas' favor on this issue obviates the need for this Court to resolve the other issues.**

4. *Brady* violations deny due process to a criminal defendant. "Disfavor" of reopening criminal conviction due to after-discovered evidence which had been withheld in violation of *Brady* is plain error because it "disfavors" due process itself. **An answer in Dr. Faltas' favor on this issue obviates the need for this Court to resolve the other issues.**

5. A *sine qua non* of due process is a disinterested/unbiased adjudicator. *All* adjudicators below had personal interests against Dr. Faltas. **An answer in Dr. Faltas' favor on this issue obviates the need for this Court to resolve the other issues.**

6. A motion to reopen under SC Crim R 29 is an integral part of criminal prosecution and thus subject to the Sixth Amendment's guarantees of *inter alia* speedy adjudication and compulsory process. South Carolina's ("SC") magistrate courts have no power to issue *subpoenae duces tecum*. Dentsville Magistrate Newsom ("DMN") refused **both** Dr. Faltas' request to return the case of Richland County Circuit Court of Common Pleas ("RCCCCP"), which has **both concurrent jurisdiction and broader subpoena power**, and Dr. Faltas' requests for DMN to issue *subpoenae* are *per se* violations of Dr. Faltas' right to compulsory process. DMN's *repeated insistence* that witnesses who had evidence favorable to Dr. Faltas' case would have shown-up without subpoena or summons is such *plainly erroneous* understanding of the role necessity of compulsory process that this Court should reverse on this issue even though Dr. Faltas' forced counsel did not *initially orally* argue it to SC Circuit Judge Brown. On Dr. Faltas' *pro se* SC Crim R 29(b) motion, SC Circuit Judge Brown did acknowledge that compulsory process is available in SC Crim R 29(b) proceedings but claimed that Dr. Faltas was not denied compulsory process. This too is plain error and should be reversed. **An answer in Dr. Faltas' favor on this issue obviates the need for this Court to resolve the other issues.**

- 7.** DMN and SC Circuit Judge Brown erred in confusing *per se* impeaching convictions of *crimen falsi* nature with impeachment using convictions which reveal a witness' general unreliability, bad moral character, and/or motive to not tell the truth in the case at hand. **No prior conviction or prior act evidencing bad moral character of a witness or other motive for that witness to not tell the truth while testifying against a criminal defendant is *per se* excludable.** Both bench and bar confuse the right of criminal defendant to be protected from improper impeachment *when that criminal defendant testifies in his/her own defense* with any criminal defendant's right to *fully* confront (and *fully* impeach) a witness testifying against that same criminal defendant. **If this issue is reached, this case should *initially* be heard *en banc* to harmonize the *seemingly* conflicting decisions and give guidance to the bench and bar.**
- 8.** DMN erred, and SC Circuit Judge Brown erred in affirming DMN, in substituting his own understanding (which was erroneous in any event) of trespass law for what a witness testifying against a criminal defendant *right or wrong may have believed ssthe power of a landlady to issue and enforce trespass notices.* **If this issue is reached, this case should *initially* be heard *en banc* to harmonize conflicting decisions and give guidance.**
- 9.** DMN erred, and SC Circuit Judge Brown erred in affirming DMN, in implicitly holding that once a witness who testified at trial against a criminal defendant had been *partially* impeached by *some* evidence, that witness cannot be further impeached by after-discovered evidence of that witness' prior convictions, bad moral character, and/or motives to not tell the truth, *specially if that evidence had been withheld by the Prosecution in violation of Brady.* **If this issue is reached, this case should *initially* be heard *en banc* to harmonize the *seemingly* conflicting decisions and give guidance to the bench and bar.**

10. DMN erred, and SC Circuit Judge Brown erred in affirming DMN, in refusing to see the whole case *in the new light* of the *cumulative effect* of the after-discovered evidence. If this issue is reached, this case should *initially* be heard *en banc* to harmonize the *seemingly* conflicting decisions and give guidance to the bench and bar.

11. SC Circuit Judge Brown reversibly erred in denying Dr. Faltas the right to brief issues, specially the necessity of the SC Crim R 29(b) proceedings being transferred to RCCCCP, which Dr. Faltas' forced counsel Dan Addison refused to brief and orally argue, despite the right of *even a represented criminal defendant* to supplement counsel's brief under *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), and *State v. Williams*, 305 S.C. 116, 406 S.E.2d 357 (1991), implementing *Anders* in SC. That right is enjoyed *even by the worst SC murder convicts*; it should shock the conscience of *every unbiased jurist* for that right to be *selectively* denied to Dr. Faltas for having done no more than win her prior cases *pro se*.

12. Governments have no *legitimate* interest in finality of unconstitutional convictions. Once a conviction *appears* unconstitutional, the speediest approach to relief should be taken.

13. Under SC's Constitution, *only published decisions* of SC S Ct are binding on this Court; and only court rules, or amendments thereto, approved by SC's General Assembly bind litigants. Under the republican form of government **guaranteed to every state by the U.S. Constitution, Article IV, Section 4**, "judicial power" does not extend beyond the power to decide cases or controversies between/among parties who voluntarily submitted to, or were properly brought within, a court's jurisdiction. The judges of this Court, whether *en banc* or in the panel eventually assigned to adjudicate this case, should apply conscientious scrutiny and independent review of the arguments and facts.

Introductory Summary of the Statement of the Case

At 7:11 pm on 11 September 2009, Dinah Gail Steele (“Landlady Steele,” “Steele” or “Landlady”), owner of two rental quadriplexes at 300 and 304 Byron Road, Columbia, SC 29209, (“the Byron quadriplexes”), called 911 claiming Dr. Faltas is on trespass notice from the Byron quadriplexes but “came over” and “harassed” and “pushed on” Steele “again.” (Transcript of 25 April 2013 trial [“2013-04-25 Tr.”] p 25 = Record on Appeal [“RoA”] _) Columbia’s Police Department (“CPD”) arrived later, took a report (RoA _), and told Steele to take a courtesy summons against Dr. Faltas for “simple assault” per City ordinance 14-31: **“It shall be unlawful for any person to commit an assault and battery or in any manner whatever to engage in any combat or fight in a private or public place within the corporate limits of the city.”**

Steele listed *claimed* as eyewitnesses three then-Byron-quadriplexes tenants: John Mitchell Jones (“Jones”), Teresa Ingram (“Ingram,” whose first and last names appear under several intentional or inadvertent misspellings in various court documents), and Charlene Crouch (“Crouch”). Steele became “livid” that CPD did not arrest Dr. Faltas there and then (2013-04-25 Tr p 32, lines 6-7 = RoA p) but instead gave her notice to appear in Columbia’s Municipal Court (“CMC”) on 2 October 2009. Dr. Faltas appeared and requested trial by jury and was *unconditionally* released on her personal recognizance. That day, she also got a stay of eviction pending appeal of a summary judgment entered on 1 October 2009 by Richland County, SC, (“RC”) Magistrate Stroman. (Transcript Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center [“ASGDC”] 2 December 2009 bond hearing [“2009-12-02 Tr.”] at pp/minutes = RoA pp/minutes).

Thereupon, Steele egged CPD to bring the more serious first-degree harassment charges against Dr. Faltas. CPD assigned Steele’s request to then-CPD-Investigator Amenda Star Blanton (“Blanton.”) Blanton contacted then-Assistant SC 5th JC Solicitor Sara Heather Savitz

Weiss (“Weiss”) who was receiving \$70K/year as supplement pay from *the* City to act as “the City prosecutor” in SC 5th JC Solicitor’s office (“SC 5th JC SO”), (RoA _). Weiss/Blanton advised Steele to obtain restraining orders against Dr. Faltas, probably to enhance her sentence upon conviction, God forbade, of harassment. Four applications were, later in October 2009, submitted to then-RC Magistrate Michael R. Davis (“RC Magistrate Davis”) by: (1) Steele, (2) her consort Larry Wayne Mason (“LWM”), (3) Jones, and (4) Ingram. RC Magistrate Davis held a hearing on 10 November and recorded on four magnetic audio cassettes later separately transcribed by Dr. Faltas and by COMPUSCRIPTS which Weiss hired for that. (RoA _)

On 17 November 2009, Blanton prepared a “case summary” for CPD’s then-Chief Tandy Carter (“CPD’s Carter”) to approve Dr. Faltas’ arrest for first-degree harassment. (RoA _) That day, Dr. Faltas also appeared at CMC for her jury trial on the “simple assault” charge. (Transcript of CMC 17 November 2009 event [“2009-11-17 Tr.”] = RoA) But then-Columbia Assistant City Attorney (“CACA”) David A. Fernandez (“CACA Fernandez”) declined to call the case and instead claimed the hearing was set to give Dr. Faltas discovery. After three false pretenses by CACA Fernandez that Dr. Faltas had already been handed discovery, and two threats of contempt-of-court pronouncements by CMC’s Marion Oneida Hanna (“CMC’s Hanna”), Dr. Faltas was handed few papers which did **not** include Blanton’s case summary or her investigation of Crouch’s prior criminal history. *Id.* at pp _.

Dr. Faltas was arrested by CPD and Blanton on 2 December 2009 on two *later-objectively-proven pre-known false* harassment warrants, one pretended by Steele, the other by Ingram. (RoA _) Indictments issued mid-January 2010 (RoA _); and the General Sessions (“GS”) trial *for both indictments* was set for 22-26 February 2010 (RoA _); but Weiss insisted on calling only the case pretended by Ingram. *Id.* Dr. Faltas ably defended *pro se* and called Steele,

LWM, Jones, and a Cory Lamont Curry (“Curry”) (all four listed but not called by Weiss as prosecution witnesses) as hostile witnesses for Dr. Faltas. The jury hopelessly deadlocked, causing then-presiding SC Circuit Judge Clifton Newman (“Judge Newman *père*”) to declare mistrial. (Transcripts of 22-26 February 2010 GS jury trial [“2010-02-(day) Tr”] = RoA _).

On 3 March 2010, Dr. Faltas appeared at CMC before then-CMC’s DeAndrea Gist Benjamin (“Jurist Benjamin”) and complained, in CACA Fernandez’ presence, of incomplete discovery in the cases pending against Dr. Faltas in CMC. Though the 3 March 2020 hearing was later transcribed, (CMC 3 March 2010 transcript [“2010-03-03 Tr.”] = RoA _) CACA Fernandez had, *in writing in April 2010*, denied it had even occurred. (Fernandez Fax, RoA _)

Both first-degree harassment charges against Dr. Faltas were, thank God, ***dismissed with prejudice*** on 13 August 2012, (RoA _) but only after having been *incorrectly* remanded over Dr. Faltas’ objection to CMC, and after she had been subjected to more brutal arrests and contempt pronouncements to thwart her efforts for speedy retrial or dismissal. (RoA _) Also, in Dr. Faltas’ 2 December 2009 bond hearing, Weiss admitted she advised *the* City to withhold trial on Steele’s simple assault charge against Dr. Faltas lest an acquittal causes Steele’s charge of harassment against Dr. Faltas to crumble. (2009-12-02 Tr p/minutes = RoA p/minutes) The “simple assault” case against Dr. Faltas was not called for trial until 25 April 2013, and then only after then-SC-Chief-Justice Toal (“Jurist Toal”) *in her administrative capacity* issued her 7 March 2013 for all Dr. Faltas’ CMC cases to be brought to “expedient” resolution by then-CMC’s Carl L. Solomon (“Attorney Solomon”) (RoA p _). That 7 March 2010 ORDER *followed* Dr. Faltas’ *federal* applications for speedy trial of the charges pending against her in CMC, which applications were dismissed *without prejudice* purportedly to allow exhaustion of state remedies.

By April 2013, all three Steele's tenants she had listed as eyewitnesses to the simple assault had been extra-judicially evicted from the Byron quadriplexes; **but only Crouch had compelling need to return there: she was receiving regular payments from Byron quadriplexes' then-tenant Charles Randolph White ("Charlie White") for sexual services as a prostitute (Dr. Faltas' theory) or to "clean" Charlie White's one-bedroom apartment (Crouch's pretext)** (Charlie White's 2007 complaint against Crouch [RoA _], Charlie White's 17 March 2011 audio-recorded testimony [media RoA _], and Crouch's testimony in 4 February 2019 hearing before DMN ("2019-02-04 Tr.") pp 89-94 = RoA _). Jones and Ingram had been thoroughly discredited in and after Dr. Faltas' 22-26 February 2010 GS trial. **But in 2012, Crouch had been arrested for a 23 December 2011 sexual battery on a vulnerable adult, functionally equivalent to a child, for which Crouch pled guilty (invoking the drunkenness excuse) on 11 July 2013, SC 5th JC case I902825 (assault and battery, 2nd degree). (RoA _)** Also on 22 April 2012, Crouch was arrested for public drunkenness *in the Byron quadriplexes* and put on notice to not return there. A conviction of Crouch was entered in CMC on 18 May 2012 **but never *to this day* reported to SLED or placed on RC's Public Index. (RoA _)** Crouch benefited from that *artificial* absence, **not expungement**, from the public record of *that* conviction; *e.g.*, during her 11 July 2013 sentencing for the 23 December 2011 assault and battery, 2nd degree, her "priors" did not include it. (Crouch's 11 July 2013 GS plea and sentence transcript p 8-9 = RoA _) *Persistent* absence of Crouch's public drunkenness conviction from *public* records, **after** then-CMC-Chief Turner's 21 January 2014 letter to Dr. Faltas acknowledging that conviction's existence **and copied to SC Circuit Judge Lee, to jurist Toal, and to then CACA Fernandez** (RoA pp _), proves the absence was not and is not inadvertence but is a prosecutorial-misconduct reward from *the* City to Crouch for her false testimony against Dr. Faltas.

At the start of Dr. Faltas' 25 April 2013 trial, Crouch and then-CACA Fernandez represented to CMC that Crouch's 22 April 2012 public drunkenness charge was "**still pending.**" (2013-04-25 pp 6-7 = RoA _) That was after-trial-discovered to be ***objectively false*** as there had been a guilty disposition of it on **18 May 2012**. Also at *id.*, Crouch and Fernandez represented to CMC that Crouch "**has no idea**" about her assault and battery, 2nd degree, charge. That, too, was after-trial-discovered to be ***objectively false*** as Crouch had, from June 2012 to March 2013 filed motions in **SC 5th JC case I902825** (RoA _). Also, Dr. Faltas' then-forced lawyer Theodore Nichols Lupton ("Ted Lupton") had, well ahead of Dr. Faltas' 25 April 2013 trial sent then-CACA Fernandez Rule 5/*Brady* requests including "all results of all physical and mental examinations of persons related to this prosecution." (RoA pp _) **No medical, psychological or psychiatric reports on Steele were produced.** Nor had Weiss, in discovery in the harassment cases, given Dr. Faltas Steele's purported "victim impact statement" which admitted, *over Steele's own signature*, that she did not suffer medical or emotional effects and needed no medical attention. **Dr. Faltas first saw that document on 12 November 2010 but has to this day been denied a copy of it.** (Audio and *partial* transcript of Dr. Faltas reviewing "two banker's boxes" at CMC = RoA media and _)

In Dr. Faltas' 25 April 2013 trial, Steele blurted "**I am *still* on medication today.**" (2013-04-25 Tr p 21, lines 1-9, = RoA p _) (which caused Dr. Faltas to gasp audibly) and insisted it is "because of this." (2013-04-25 p 29 = RoA _) Again, *to this day*, Dr. Faltas is denied discovery on who, if anyone, prescribed medication to Steele and on whether it was "because of this" or for other stresses in Steele's life, including her living with LWM, whose second wife, Ella Faye Kizer Mason, died in 1993 by gunshot wound to the head fired in LWM's presence and from his gun, (RoA _), whose first-born son, Richard Wayne Mason ("RWM") died in April

2016 *in Steele's presence* of a gunshot wound to the head also fired from LWM's gun (RoA _), and whose younger son, Christopher James Mason ("CJM") died in 2022 of causes apparently related to cocaine addiction after having been incarcerated in December 2021 for cocaine possession (RoA _). Although LWM almost contemporaneously *publicized* RWM's purported suicide in LWM's medical malpractice suit against RWM's psychiatrist (RoA _), Dr. Faltas was *emphatically* prevented from asking Landlady Steele any questions about the effect on her emotions and need for medication of RWM's having lived and died in her home. (2019-02-04 Tr pp 35-7 = RoA _) Steele insisted she will *return* to Paxil *solely* for having *seen* Dr. Faltas at the 4 February 2019 SC Crim R 29(b) hearing. *Id.* at Tr. p 85, lines 20-21 = RoA_. But Dr. Faltas was not allowed to follow up or argue the utter incredibility of emotional distress claims by Steele *which supposedly lasted four years under medical supervision.*

IN SUM: Weiss' and then-CACA Fernandez' acts and omissions to make at least one criminal charge by Steele "stick" against Dr. Faltas after she had been exonerated of all other Steele-caused charges ("the City needs a conviction [of Dr. Faltas]" then-CACA Fernandez had written to Ted Lupton in February 2013), are jointly-and-severally attributable *Brady* violations.

Without the improperly-withheld *Brady* material, the Prosecution falsely portrayed Steele as a long-suffering victim of Dr. Faltas pushed to "nervous breakdown" and "medication" and falsely portrayed Crouch as a person of good character with "no dog in the fight" (2013-04-25 Tr p 88 = RoA _) but testifying only for the sake of truth. CMC's Solomon *expressly* relied on Crouch's testimony and penalized Dr. Faltas for doubting it. *Id.* at pp 127-8 = RoA _.

In the new light of the after discovered evidence, and had *Brady* material been timely given to Dr. Faltas, the whole true picture of Steele as one who is herself a liar (or, at best, an *extreme* exaggerator) and who had suborned her then-tenants to commit perjuries against Dr.

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