**RECEIVED**

**May 01 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS, FIFTH JUDICIAL  
CIRCUIT

The Honorable D. Craig Brown  
Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2022-000339

---

CITY OF COLUMBIA,.....RESPONDENT,

v.

MARIE ASSA'AD-FALTAS, MD, MPH, ..... APPELLANT,

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF COLUMBIA**

---

Marshall S. James, S.C. Bar No. 80387  
City of Columbia  
Office of the City Attorney  
Post Office Box 667  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 737-4242  
Marshall.james@columbiasc.gov

*Counsel for Respondent City of Columbia*

**

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

*Parker v. Shecut*, 340 S.C. 460, 497, 531 S.E.2d 546, 566 (Ct. App. 2000), rev'd on other grounds by *Parker v. Shecut*, 349 S.C. 226, 562 S.E.2d 620 (2002) (internal citations omitted).

In response to Appellant's claim that the magistrate judge should recuse himself, the magistrate explained that he contacted the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, which advised him that recusal was not necessary. Hr. Tr. at 2, 3.

The circuit court was correct in finding that the magistrate judge exhibited no judicial prejudice or bias toward Appellant. See Order at 5. For example, the magistrate noted that most hearings on motions to reopen do not take very long. Hr.

Tr. at 22, ll. 20-21. The circuit court found that the magistrate judge gave Appellant ample opportunity during the hearing to catch her breath; to find necessary paperwork during the hearing; to search for points in support of her arguments in transcripts; to take breaks; to call witnesses; and to testify herself. Order at 5. Moreover, the transcript of the hearing on Appellant's motion to reopen runs to one hundred and thirty-seven pages and is evidence that the magistrate judge went to considerable effort to enable Appellant to present arguments and evidence in support of her motion. Accordingly, this court should affirm the circuit court's finding that the magistrate exhibited no bias or prejudice and was thus not required to recuse himself. Order at 5.

**2. The Magistrate Court was correct in denying Appellant's motion to transfer the hearing from Magistrate Court to Circuit Court.**

This court should affirm the magistrate court's denial of Appellant's motion to transfer. Hr. Tr. at 133, l. 9. In support of her motion to transfer, Appellant argued that a transfer would promote judicial economy, that the circuit court has broader subpoena power than the magistrate's court, and that with such broad subpoena power, she would be able to subpoena witnesses from other counties. Hr. Tr. at 5, ll. 8-15.

The magistrate judge denied Appellant's motion to transfer. Hr. Tr. at 133, l. 9. He noted that the circuit court ordered that the motion to reopen be sent to magistrate's court and that a motion to reopen is properly heard and ruled on at the judicial level where the original trial took place. Hr. Tr. at 6-7. The magistrate further

explained that he did not have the authority to transfer the matter to the circuit court. Hr. Tr. at 133, ll. 8-10.

**3. The Circuit Court was correct in finding that Appellant failed to provide proof of a *Brady* violation.**

Appellant's initial argument in support of her motion for a new trial is that the City of Columbia did not comply with its obligations under *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); Hr. Tr. at 56, ll. 9-11. Appellant alleged that the City failed to disclose Charlene Crouch's criminal record when it turned over discovery at a November 17, 2009 hearing. Hr. Tr. at 48, ll. 9-16.

Under *Brady*, "the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." *Id.* at 87; *see also State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. 159, 176-77, 508 S.E.2d 870, 879 (1998). In support of her *Brady* motion, Appellant called Teresa Knox, City Attorney for the City of Columbia. Ms. Knox testified that she was not the City Attorney at the time of Appellant's April 2013 trial. Hr. Tr. at 55, l. 20. When asked whether City Prosecutors are employed in the City Attorney's office, Knox answered that they are and that she is their supervisor. Hr. Tr. at 54-55. Appellant asked Knox whether new City Prosecutors take over a file after a former City Prosecutor leaves the City Attorney's Office, and Knox testified that they do. Hr. Tr. at 55-56. She further testified that City Prosecutors are custodians of the records contained in the City's files but not of the records in the Municipal Court's files. Tr. at 56, ll. 3-4. In addition, Knox testified that City Prosecutors would be responsible for producing documents

to which defendants are entitled. Hr. Tr. at 56, ll. 3-4. Knox further testified that she had no knowledge of what was in Appellant's file, and she suggested that the City's Chief Prosecutor, who was present in the courtroom for the hearing on Appellant's motion to reopen, would be the proper person to ask about information or evidence in City files. Hr. Tr. at 56, ll. 23-25. Appellant ended her examination of Knox and did not call the Chief Prosecutor to the stand for questioning. Hr. Tr. at 57.

Appellant also testified regarding the alleged *Brady* violation. Hr. Tr. at 124. The magistrate judge asked her about the alleged document that the City allegedly failed to provide. Hr. Tr. at 124, ll. 8. Appellant testified that it was a "document that said that [Steele] had no psychological effects and no need for a doctor" in the wake of Appellant's assault. Hr. Tr. at 124, ll. 9-10. The magistrate judge asked her if she raised the issue concerning the document at trial, and Appellant testified that her attorney prevented her from doing so. Hr. Tr. at 24, ll. 16-17. The magistrate judge stated that the proper avenue for a complaint about her attorney was the P.C.R matter that she previously filed. Hr. Tr. at 24, ll. 18-20.

The magistrate judge noted that Appellant raised issues that gave him concerns about whether Appellant was provided with complete discovery. Hr. Tr. at 133, ll. 3-8. Nevertheless, he found that Appellant failed to meet her burden of offering proof of a *Brady* violation and accordingly denied her motion to reopen on that basis. *Id.* The circuit court properly affirmed. Order at 10.

**4. The Circuit Court was correct in finding that Appellant failed to produce after discovered evidence sufficient to justify granting Appellant's motion to reopen.**

“A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. The granting of a new trial because of after-discovered evidence is not favored, and this Court will sustain the lower court's denial of such a motion unless there appears an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Irvin*, 270 S.C. 539, 545, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197–98 (1978). To establish that a new trial is warranted, “[t]he movant must show that the evidence: (1) is such as would probably change the result if a new trial is had; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before trial; (4) is material to the issue; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.” *State v. Pierce*, 263 S.C. 23, 32, 207 S.E.2d 414, 419 (1974).

In support of her motion, Appellant identified Dinah Steele, Charles White, Charlene Crouch, and Teresa Ingram as persons whom she argued were the source of after-discovered evidence that would be sufficient to justify granting her motion to reopen.

**a. Dinah Gail Steele**

The circuit court first addressed Appellant’s motion to reopen as it applied to Steele. Order at 7. Appellant argued that Steele was either on medications during her April 25, 2013, simple assault trial and that those medications affected her competency to testify, or she was not on medications and thus lied under oath. Order at 8; Hr. Tr. at 10, ll. 15-17. In support of her claim that the case should be reopened because of Steele’s testimony, Appellant requested that the court order the production of her medical records. Hr. Tr. at 10, ll. 12-21. The magistrate judge denied the

request for such an order, stating that he lacked the power to subpoena those records. Hr. Tr. at 11, ll. 1-3. The magistrate judge did offer Appellant the opportunity to question Steele, and Appellant did so. Hr. Tr. at 78-87. Appellant's questions covered such topics as when Steele changed her name, whether she suffered mental injury, and whether or not Appellant actually struck her in 2009. Hr. Tr. at 79 - 81. Appellant also asked Steele whether she was on meds during her April 2013 trial, and Steele testified that she was on Paxil at the time. Hr. Tr. at 82, l. 17. Appellant then asked who prescribed the Paxil, but the magistrate judge ruled that such a question was not relevant. Hr. Tr. at 82, l. 25. Appellant elicited testimony that the Paxil was prescribed in the emergency room and that she needed the Paxil after Appellant's assault and continued harassment. Hr. Tr. at 83, ll. 4-6, 22-23. Appellant continued with questions concerning whether it was explained to Steele that Paxil was an antidepressant, whether she could sleep at night, and whether she stopped crying. Hr. Tr. at 86, ll. 6-21. The magistrate ended this line of questioning and ruled that he did not see these questions or any of the questions that Appellant asked of Steele as being relevant to her motion to reopen. Hr. Tr. at 86, ll. 23-24.

In addition, the magistrate judge allowed Appellant to testify on this issue, and her testimony addressed Steele's medication. Hr. Tr. at 121-123. She testified that no reasonable physician would prescribe Paxil and that a physician in the emergency room would not be allowed to prescribe more than a three-day supply. Hr. Tr. 122, ll. 2-7. Appellant also testified that it was implausible that Steele was "constantly crying and [going] to the emergency room four months after she was handed a piece of

paper.” Hr. Tr. at 122, ll. 9-11. Appellant further testified that she did not assault or strike Steele. *See* Hr. Tr. 122, ll. 11-12.

Appellant’s apparent aim with respect to this testimony was to call into question Steele’s credibility as it related to her competency, her medications, and whether she struck Steele. *See* Hr. Tr. 121-22. The magistrate judge ended this line of questioning and ruled that this testimony is irrelevant to the motion to reopen. Hr. Tr. 122, ll. 20-21. Appellant replied “it’s relevant to rebut her testimony that I struck her.” Hr. Tr. 122, l. 25. The magistrate judge responded that that issue had been adjudicated as Appellant had been found guilty of simple assault against Steele and that the conviction had been affirmed. Hr. Tr. 123, ll. 1-4.

In sum, the magistrate judge concluded that despite her examination of Steele, Appellant failed to produce any evidence that would meet the standard for after discovered evidence because the evidence Appellant elicited was merely impeaching. Hr. Tr. at 134. The circuit court properly affirmed this finding. Order at 10.

**b. Charles White**

Appellant contends that a 2009 letter from Charles White outlines an agreement that Crouch had with Steele. Hr. Tr. at 19, l. 23; Hr. Tr. at 31 ll. 1-16. Under the agreement, Crouch would testify untruthfully against Appellant if Steele would agree not to enforce a trespass notice against Crouch. Hr. Tr. 18, ll. 22-25; Hr. Tr. 19, ll. 1-5, ll. 23-24. Appellant asserts that Crouch would then be able to visit and provide sexual services to White, who was living in one of Steele’s apartments on Byron Rd. Hr. Tr. 19, ll. 1-5.

White neither appeared nor testified at the hearing on Appellant's motion to reopen, and he was not subpoenaed. Hr. Tr. at 22, ll. 10-11. The magistrate judge ruled that what White may have written to Appellant in his letter was hearsay and would have been inadmissible at her April 2013 trial. Hr. Tr. at 134, l. 13. He also found that the 2009 letter that White wrote was not after discovered evidence and therefore could not be used in support of her motion. Hr. Tr. at 134, l. 16-17. The circuit court properly affirmed the magistrate judge's findings. Order at 10.

**c. Charlene Crouch**

Appellant sought to elicit testimony from Crouch in support of her assertion that Crouch lied about her criminal record at Appellant's April 2013 trial and about the reason Crouch was placed on trespass notice at the Byron Rd. apartments. Hr. Tr. at 15, ll. 12-13. At the hearing on the motion to reopen, Crouch testified that she was arrested for public drunkenness on April 22, 2012, and that she pled guilty to that charge in May 2012. Hr. Tr. at 92, ll. 8-17. Appellant also asked Crouch about an assault second charge. Hr. Tr. at 97, ll. 18-19, ll. 21-22.

As for the public drunkenness conviction, the magistrate judge ruled that Appellant would not have been allowed to enter that conviction into evidence because it is not an impeachable offense. Hr. Tr. at 100, ll. 9-13. The magistrate judge also ruled that the assault second charge would not have been admissible at her April 2013 trial because Crouch was convicted of that charge three months after Appellant's trial. Hr. Tr. at 98, ll. 9-11, ll. 22-24.

Appellant explored other lines of questions with Crouch. For example, she asked whether Crouch was evicted from an apartment on Byron Rd.; whether Crouch was placed on trespass notice at the Byron Rd apartments; whether Crouch or Steele called the police after Appellant's assault on Steele; and whether Crouch received money from Steele or White. Hr. Tr. at 89, ll. 1-23; Hr. Tr. at 92, ll. 18-20; Hr. Tr. at 107, ll. 10-15, 23-25; Hr. Tr. at 90, ll. 13-14. The magistrate judge ruled that these questions were irrelevant to her motion to reopen and that Crouch was not a source of any after discovered evidence that would have supported Appellant's motion for a new trial. Hr. Tr. at 134, ll. 2-12. The circuit court properly affirmed the magistrate's findings. Order at 10.

**d. Teresa Ingram**

Appellant asserted that Teresa Ingram was "paid in the form of free rent by Dinah Steele to testify falsely against me." Hr. Tr. at 28, ll. 2-3; Hr. Tr. at 34, ll. 19-25. She also asserted that Ingram allegedly testified falsely against her in an unrelated harassment trial. Hr. Tr. at 28, ll. 9-10. Appellant asserts that Steele evicted Ingram because the allegedly false testimony failed to result in Appellant's conviction of harassment. Hr. Tr. 34, ll. 21-25. According to Appellant, this alleged scheme is proof that Steele lies. *Id.* Despite these assertions, the magistrate judge found that Ingram could have but did not testify at the April 2013 trial, and that evidence that Ingram might have provided could have been discovered before trial. Tr. 35, ll. 14-17; Tr. 134, ll. 17-18. The circuit court properly affirmed the magistrate's findings. Order at 10.

- 5. Appellant has failed to preserve and thus has waived issues 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 9 as outlined in her Revised Initial Brief because she failed to raise these issues in the Circuit Court.**

Appellant failed to raise issues 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 9 in the circuit court; consequently, the circuit court did not rule on these issues. Appellant's Revised Initial Brief at 4-5.

According to the South Carolina Supreme Court,

Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review. At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. It is 'axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.' Imposing such a requirement on the appellant 'is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.' Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal.

*Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (internal citations omitted). Because Appellant failed to raise these issues below, the circuit court did not rule on them, and this Court should therefore deem issues 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 9 waived.

## **CONCLUSION**

Respondent City of Columbia respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the circuit court concerning Appellant's motion to recuse, motion to transfer, and motion to reopen and rule that:

1. The circuit court properly found that the magistrate judge was not required to recuse himself because he did not demonstrate prejudice towards Appellant;
2. The magistrate court properly denied Appellant's motion to transfer her motion to reopen from magistrate court to circuit court;
3. The circuit court properly found that Appellant failed to provide proof of a *Brady* violation;
4. The circuit court properly found that Appellant failed to produce after discovered evidence sufficient to justify granting her motion to reopen;
5. Appellant failed to preserve and thus waived issues 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 9 as outlined in her revised initial brief because she failed to raise these issues to the circuit court.